BOROUGH OF REIGATE AND BANSTEAD EXECUTIVE

Minutes of a meeting of the Executive held at the New Council Chamber - Town Hall, Reigate on 26 January 2023.

Present: Councillors M. A. Brunt (Leader), T. Schofield (Deputy Leader), T. Archer, R. H. Ashford, R. Biggs, E. Humphreys, V. H. Lewanski and C. M. Neame

Also present: Councillors M. Blacker, P. Chandler, J. Essex, N. Harrison, R. Ritter

54. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Bramhall.

Councillor Sachdeva attended the meeting virtually so could take part in the debate but not vote or second any motion.

55. MINUTES

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 15 December 2022 be approved.

56. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Archer declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 6 on the Agenda (Social Housing Downsizing Support Scheme) as a non-executive director at the Housing Ombudsman.

Councillor Archer declared a prejudicial non-pecuniary interest in Item 7 on the Agenda (Council's Social Landlord Functions – Supporting Policies) as a non-executive director at the Housing Ombudsman. He left the Council Chamber during Item 7 while the item was considered.

57. BUDGET & CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2023/24

The Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance and Governance, Councillor Schofield, presented the final revenue and capital budget proposals for 2023/24 onwards as set out in the published report and annexes of the agenda pack. This recommended the net revenue budget requirement of £23.194m (£3.214m higher than the budget for 2022/23). A recommended council tax increase of 2.99% (equivalent to £7.25 a year) for the average Band D property was proposed.

The increased budget reflected higher energy cost pressures, potential property voids and planned investment in IT. These pressures had been offset by identifying £828k of savings and additional income of £1.186m.

Central budgets were also set to rise by £2.943m to fund staff pay increases, pension contributions and shortfalls in housing benefits subsidies. These pressures were offset from savings in other central budgets, with the balance being funded from increased income from council tax, business rates and government grants.

In total, it was proposed that council tax income rise by just over £1m in 2023/24. The Council's share of business rates will increase to £2.2m compared to recent years. There had been a more favourable government settlement and net increased in government grants than in recent years.

Councillor Schofield noted that the additional 1% allowable increase in Council Tax to 2.99%, announced just before Christmas, had not been anticipated when drafting the budget in the autumn. The increasing economic pressures on residents over the coming year was recognised; an economic pressures reserve of £150k (equivalent to 1%) would provide additional discretionary support as and when needed.

The Financial Sustainability Programme was continuing to look at how the Council's assets were performing, explore opportunities to generate new sources of income and ensure all services deliver value for money.

The Reserve budgets were healthy to help manage future budget risks and opportunities. The General Fund Balance at £3.5m remained more than adequate to cover financial risks. Capital growth for 2023 to 2028 was set at £7.7m, primarily to continue the programme of investment in the Council's land, property and vehicle assets over the five-year period.

The budget proposals had been subject to thorough review by Members of the Budget Scrutiny Panel in November and by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in December. Their findings and recommendations were reported separately to Executive on 15 December. An update to the budget had been considered by Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 19 January. The proposed Budget will go to Full Council on 9 February.

Councillor Harrison, Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee, noted the proposed budget changes from December These included: the proposed updates to council tax, increased business rates and an increase in core spending to meet secondary pension contributions. Increased government grants meant that that there was less need to draw on earmarked reserves which was a positive net change from December to January. There were no specific recommendations from the Committee.

Visiting Members made comments and asked questions on the following points:

• Pay award 2023/24 – It was confirmed that an increase of £1500 for all staff (with the exception of the most senior managers taking a pay freeze) had been offered and accepted by the unions. A one-off payment was considered a sensible and fair approach to reflect the cost of living pressures and high inflation.

- Government grants Members asked questions about the government settlement which had been announced just before Christmas. This had been more generous than in previous years including a proposed council tax uplift to 2.99%. Members asked how residents would benefit from the additional grants and council tax income. Councillor Schofield confirmed that the economic pressures reserve had been set up to assist residents affected by the cost of living crisis and allow it to be distributed to service areas where residents were most in need. Pat Main, Chief Finance Officer, confirmed that the overall net change between November and January was £1.78m which comprised the additional council tax, final share of business rates and increased government grants.
- Fees and charges Members raised concerns about proposals to increase waste charges leading to increased cost to clear up fly-tipping waste. It was confirmed that garden waste subscriptions paid by residents would increase from £65 to £68 to cover increased costs such as fuel charges.
- Voluntary and charitable sector Members asked about the impact in reduction of grants to voluntary and charitable organisations. Portfolio Holder for Community Partnerships, Councillor Ashford, said that discussions had been held with seven voluntary organisations providing services as part of the budget consultation to better understand how they might manage a funding grant reduction. (More information was set out in the summary of the Equality Impact Assessment 2023/24 budget proposals summary (Annex 1 p116). It was noted that this would increase the pressure on fundraising. However, the community partnerships team were working closely with the voluntary organisations throughout the year; money set aside in the economic pressures reserve could be used to support funding requests in the coming year to those areas in particular need.

It had been suggested that one potential option to be explored was to set up a community-based lottery, such as that run by other councils, to support this area of work. Members asked about the suitability and potentially negative impact of this tactic. It was agreed that all aspects of any such proposals would be well considered before a decision was made to proceed.

Leader, Councillor Mark Brunt, recognised the continued pressures on voluntary sector partners and an uncertain 18 months ahead. It was important that the additional 1% from council tax revenues was put aside to support voluntary sector partners and people at risk of homelessness. He thanked Officers and Executive Members as well as the Budget Scrutiny Panel and Overview and Scrutiny Committee for their work on the 2023/24 Budget and Capital Programme.

RESOLVED:

That Executive RECOMMEND to Council:

- (i) The latest Medium-Term Financial Plan forecast at Annex 1.
- (ii) An increase in Reigate & Banstead's Band D Council Tax of £7.25 (2.99%) and a final tax base of £63,495.31 Band D equivalents;
- (iii) A Revenue budget requirement of £23.194 million for 2023/24, as set out in this report and at Annex 2, which reflects:

- Service budget growth proposals totalling £0.442 million, savings of (£0.828) million; additional income of (£1.186) million and forecast issues, risks and opportunities totalling £1.843 million;
- Central Revenue Budget net growth proposals totalling £2.379 million and forecast issues and risks totalling £0.564 million;
- (iv) The forecast for Revenue Reserves (Annex 3) and the recommended use of £0.977 million from Reserves in 2023/24 comprising:
 - £0.493 million from the IT Strategy Reserve to fund implementation of the approved IT Strategy; and
 - Up to £0.484 million from the Government Funding Risks Reserve, where necessary, to fund the forecast reduction in housing benefit subsidy;
- (v) A Capital Programme of £59.899 million for 2023/24 to 2027/28 as set out in this report and including net Capital Programme Growth Proposals of £7.672 million;
- (vi) The updated Fees & Charges Policy (Annex 7)
- (vii) The Chief Finance Officer's report on the robustness of the Budget estimates and adequacy of Reserves.

The Executive AGREED to authorise:

(viii) The Chief Finance Officer to make any necessary final technical adjustments to the Budget and Council Tax arising from final budget refinements or changes to Government funding.

58. COUNCIL TAX 2023/24

Councillor Schofield, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance and Governance, introduced the technical report to Executive setting out the Council Tax 2023/24 calculations and Recommendations to Full Council for debate on 9 February 2023. (Pages 165 to 167 in the report).

The reasons for the Council's recommended increase of 2.99% (equivalent to £7.25 a year for an average Band D property) were set out in the Budget report to Executive.

This was an increase of 14p a week for the average household. Surrey County Council was due to meet on 7 February and it was expected that their share of the council tax would rise by 4.99%, including the adult social care precept. The Surrey Police share of the precept, due to be considered on 3 February by the Police and Crime Commissioner, was expected to be a £10 increase.

Overall, this means that the Reigate & Banstead Borough Council element of the council tax was just under 11% of the combined Band D council tax (including precepts) which will increase by £103.14 or 4.6% in total from April. In addition, sums would be charged to Salfords & Sidlow Parish Council and Horley Town Council as detailed in the report.

There were no comments from Executive Members.

A Visiting Member asked for an explanation of two figures in the report recommendations; the Chief Finance Officer agreed to provide a written response (set out below, following the meeting).

Recommendation (i) (a):The figure of 63,495.31 is the forecast council tax base for 2023/24 that has been used to calculate the income to be received from council tax

Recommendation (iii) (a):The figure of £70,033,431 represents the gross annual revenue budget for 2023/24 (as calculated in line with the council tax-setting regulations).

Executive members noted the Recommendations, and it was:

RESOLVED that the Executive RECOMMEND to Council:

- (i) Be noted that on 1 December 2022 the Council calculated:
 - a) the Council Tax base 2023/24 for the whole Council as 63,495.31

[Item T in the formula in Section 31B(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended (the "Act")] and,

- b) for dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish precept relates:
 - Horley Town Council 10,991.72
 - Salfords & Sidlow Parish Council 1,443.97

The 'tax base' is the number of Band D equivalent dwellings in a local authority area.

Detailed calculations of the Council Tax are set out in Annexes 1, 2 & 3.

- (ii) Calculate that the Council Tax requirements for the Council's own purposes for 2023/24 (excluding Parish precepts) is £15,855,416
- (iii) That the following amounts be calculated for the year 2023/24 in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act:
 - a) £70,033,431 being the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in Section 32(2) of the Act taking into account all precepts issued to it by Parish Councils
 - b) £53,610,084 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in Section 32(3) of the Act.
 - c) £16,423,347 being the amount which the aggregate at 3(a) above exceeds the aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated by the Council in accordance with Section 32(4) of the Act as its Council Tax requirement for the year (item R in the formula in Section 32(4) of the Act).
 - d) £258.65 being the amount at 3(c) above (Item R), all divided by Item T (1(a) above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 33(1) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year (including Parish Precepts).
 - e) £567,931 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish precepts) referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act (as per the attached Appendix).
 - f) £249.71 being the amount at 3(d) above less the result given by dividing the amount at 3(e) above by item T (1(a) above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the

basic amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which no Parish precept relates.

- g) Horley Town Council £297.47
 Salfords & Sidlow Parish Council £279.43
 Being the amounts given by adding to the amount at 3(f) above the amounts of the special items relating to dwellings in those parts of the Council's area mentioned above divided in each case by the amount at 1(b) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the basic amounts of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or more special items relate.
- (iv) It be noted that the figures in the attached Appendix being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 3(f) and 3(g) above by the number which, in the proportions set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band D, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of dwellings listed in different valuation bands.
- (v) Having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts 1 to 5, above, the Council, in accordance with Section 30(2) of the Act, hereby sets the amounts of Council Tax for the year 2023/24 for each of the categories of dwellings shown in Annex 3.
- (vi) It be noted that for the year 2023/24 Surrey County Council and Surrey Police and Crime Commissioner have not yet stated amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in accordance with Section 40 of the Act, for each of the categories of dwellings shown in Appendix 2.
- (vii) Authorise the Chief Finance Officer to make any amendments to the Council Tax demands as might prove necessary as the result of changes to the estimated demands issued by preceptors on the Council's Collection Fund.

59. SOCIAL HOUSING DOWNSIZING SUPPORT SCHEME

The Executive Member for Housing and Support, Councillor Neame, introduced a report which proposed a pilot scheme to assist under-occupying social tenants to downsize into more affordable properties.

Large social housing properties are in urgent demand in the borough. Waiting times for those on the housing register, and the number of homeless households who are placed in temporary accommodation, was increasing. In some cases, households wait up to 5 years for a suitable property to become available. This pilot project, which is a priority in the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, aimed to support 10 under-occupying social housing tenants to downsize.

Executive Members noted that:

Participating households would benefit from a tailored downsizing offer which included the support of a personal assistant to oversee the removal process, access to DIY assistance and a one-off 'home set up payment'.

Direct offers of properties will be made to the downsizers as permitted by the Council's housing policies. The properties that are released by downsizers will be allocated to homeless households.

It was proposed that the pilot project would be funded by a ringfenced £68,240 from the Homelessness Prevention Grant and limited to assisting 10 downsizers. This would help a total of 20 households move into a home which met their needs.

Members recognised that downsizing could be an emotionally difficult and complex process. This voluntary scheme was a good opportunity to free up larger properties and assist those tenants, currently on the Council's housing register, move successfully into smaller properties, with the right support.

Visiting Members asked questions and made observations on the following:

- Energy efficiency Members asked about work to properties to improve energy efficiency and reduce carbon emissions. Unnecessary heating of a larger underoccupied home would reduce individual carbon footprints. Residents could also make small-scale changes to their new homes. When a property became vacant, discussions could take place with social housing providers such as Raven Housing Trust to make improvements to larger homes and bring them up to Green Homes standards.
- **Underoccupancy Transfer Officer** the part-time post would be advertised on a 12-month fixed term basis, with possible extension if funding was in place, as set out in the report.

RESOLVED: that the Executive AGREED:

- (i) Approval to ringfence £68,240 from the Homelessness Prevention Grant to proceed with a pilot social housing downsizing support scheme.
- (ii) The Head of Housing in consultation with the:
 - Chief Finance Officer
 - Strategic Head of Legal & Governance
 - Executive Member for Housing & Support
 - Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Finance & Governance
 - a) To continue with the scheme if successful after the 12-month pilot period and continue to fund from the annual Homeless Prevention Grant subject to the Grant being available.

60. COUNCIL'S SOCIAL LANDLORD FUNCTIONS - SUPPORTING POLICIES

 The Executive Member for Housing and Support, Councillor Neame, introduced a report to Committee which set out a number of policies to support the Council's social housing landlord functions as a registered provider as permitted by the Regulator of Social Housing. Three policies supported aspects of the Council's new responsibilities and operation of services to customers to provide transparency and clarity on approach and practice. These were:

- **Rent Policy** this sets out the Council's approach to rent setting and annual rent reviews. This year a rent increase of 2.3% is proposed.
- **Compensation Policy** this explains the Council's approach to managing discretionary and compulsory compensation claims made by tenants.
- **Decant Policy** this is where the Council may need secure or introductory tenants to vacate their homes on a temporary or permanent basis.

The Leader, Councillor Mark Brunt, said that as the borough council grew as a social landlord these policies needed to be in place to continue to manage the Council's growing housing register. The proposed rent increase in April for the Council's new social housing tenants (with levels capped and set by the Government) was set at a reasonable level of 2.3%. It was noted that Raven Housing Trust had set its rent increase in April at 7% this coming year.

Visiting Members raised questions in the following areas:

- Number of council-owned social housing accommodation it was confirmed that in addition to the 32 new affordable rented homes at Wheatley Court, Redhill, there were just under 50 units in total in the borough (including those classed as emergency and temporary accommodation).
- Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Local authorities are not permitted to own more than 199 social housing homes without opening a Housing Revenue Account (HRA). It was confirmed that the Housing Revenue Account was a ringfenced account used for all income and expenditure relating to housing properties and land. Members asked if the current income from just under 50 units was ringfenced and would be used for housing purposes. It was confirmed this was the case and the Council was committed to ensuring income generated from future rents would be used to invest in properties, as set out in the Housing Strategy.

The Council was on the shortlist for a national award for the delivery of the social housing development Wheatley Court in Redhill which had been the first scheme in social housing for some time. This followed on winning the best large social housing development for the South East region in the Local Authority Building Control (LABC) Awards last year. The Leader said this development had been a huge achievement for the Housing team and Development team working closely with the Portfolio Holder for Place Delivery and Planning Policy, Councillor Biggs.

RESOLVED that the Executive AGREED:

- (i) That the Rent Policy at Annex 1 be approved and the Executive authorise the Head of Housing in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Support to make any necessary minor amendments of the Rent Policy prior to publication.
- (ii) That the Executive approve 2.3% rent increase for the Council's social housing in 2023-24.
- (iii) That the Compensation Policy at Annex 2 be approved and the Executive authorise the Head of Housing in consultation with the

Portfolio Holder for Housing and Support to make any necessary minor amendments of the Compensation Policy prior to publication.

(iv) That the Decant Policy at Annex 3 be approved and the Executive authorise the Head of Housing and Support to make any necessary minor amendments of the Decant Policy prior to publication.

61. CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2023 - 2024

Executive members considered the Calendar of Meetings for the 2023/24 Municipal Year set out in the cover report published in the agenda pack.

An Addendum to the agenda pack set out the <u>updated Calendar of Meetings 2023-24</u> for the coming Municipal Year. This included two date revisions to avoid meetings in the Easter holidays in 2024 following feedback received at the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 19 January 2023.

The Leader noted that special effort had been made to limit meetings being held in school holidays in order for Council business to be inclusive to Members and working parents with school age children. This would enable maximum representation at Full Council and adjustments had been made to reflect this in the updated Calendar.

RESOLVED that the Executive RECOMMEND to Council:

 To approve the draft Calendar of Meetings for 2023/24 Municipal Year as set out in the Report and in the Addendum to the Executive agenda pack.

62. STATEMENTS

Councillor Biggs, Portfolio Holder for Place Delivery & Planning Policy, gave a Statement to the Committee. He invited members of the public and interested parties to attend a public meeting on 1 February 2023 at the Town Hall for a presentation and Q&A session about Reigate & Banstead Borough Council's timetable to prepare, consult on and adopt a new Local Plan for 2027.

The statement was as follows:

"Planning is one of the Council's key responsibilities and impacts everyone. It helps shape the environment that we live in, where we live, the places we work, the open spaces we enjoy and how we travel.

The Council's existing Local Plan Core Strategy and Development Management Plan are scheduled to run until July 2027. These important documents help guide and manage how our borough develops and changes in an integrated and controlled way. We now need to work on a new, single, Local Plan to set out the vision, policies and development framework for 2027 and beyond. Preparing a new Local Plan takes time, so we need to start now to make sure we're ready.

Local councils are required to have an up-to-date Local Plan. The plan generally looks 15-20 years ahead and makes it clear what is intended to happen in an area, where and when this will occur and how it will be delivered.

It is a long and complex process that must be done according to regulations, national planning policy and guidance. This involves gathering and updating evidence, widespread consultation and preparing policies for independent examination by Government Planning Inspectors, before the final decision to adopt is taken by the whole Council.

The first key step in developing our new Local Plan was the Council agreeing a Local Development Scheme (LDS) at its meeting on 27 October 2022 (minute 38). This establishes a formal timetable about how to achieve the necessary stages during the next few years, along with potential risks and mitigation measures to reduce their impact.

We are in the very early stages of producing our new Local Plan to help ensure our borough remains an attractive and thriving place to live, work and visit. We need a plan that meets the Council's statutory requirement and allows development to be steered towards the most appropriate locations, sets ambitious environment sustainability and biodiversity requirements, helps attract investment in infrastructure and responds to changes in legislation, demographics and people's habits.

We won't know for a while yet about any potential sites, possible housing numbers needed or other proposed details for 2027 and beyond. This will become clearer as we prepare the new Local Plan and there will be plenty of opportunities to have your say during future public consultations."

 More details on how the Local Plan will be produced and the way people can comment and get involved during the next few years available from the Planning Policy Team at LDF@reigate-banstead.gov.uk

63. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS

There was no urgent business.

64. EXEMPT BUSINESS

There was no exempt business.

The Meeting closed at 8.28 pm